**RECEIVED**

**Apr 19 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Mikell R. Scarborough, Master in Equity

---

Case No. 2021-000793

---

FAMILY SERVICES, INC., AS CONSERVATOR  
FOR MURIEL W. CLARKIN, RESPONDENT,

Appellant(s),

v.

PATRICIA CLARKIN SMITH AND WELLS  
FARGO BANK, NA., DEFENDANTS, OF WHOM  
PATRICIA CLARKIN SMITH IS THE  
APPELLANT,

Respondent (s).

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

DICKSON DAVIS LAW FIRM, LLC

Deborah D. Davis, Esq.  
SC Bar No.: 102942  
620 Rutherford Street  
Greenville, SC 29609  
(833) 729-3426 t  
(864) 752-1424 f

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the lower court erred granting a summary judgment when a genuine dispute of legal conclusions, or inferences drawn from the evidentiary facts, existed as a matter of law for awarding Respondent damages pertaining to claims of funds when said claims were barred by the statute of limitations.**
  
- II. Whether the lower court erred granting a summary judgment when a genuine dispute of legal conclusions, or inferences drawn from the evidentiary facts, existed as a matter of law for awarding Respondent damages pertaining to rent in arrears when no landlord-tenant relationship existed.**
  
- III. Whether the lower court erred by violating Appellant's constitutional rights of depriving Appellant of Appellant's property without due process.**

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Family Services, Inc. (“Family Services”), as the conservator for Muriel Walsh Clarkin (“Mother”), sued Appellant Patricia Clarkin Smith (“Patricia”) and Defendant Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (“Wells Fargo”), for disputed monies and property transfer(s) pertaining to the conservatorship. (R. pp. 50-61, 63-64, 231-236, 238-250). Patricia and her sister, Muriel Clarkin Kennedy (“Muriel”), are the daughters of Muriel Walsh Clarkin. (R. pp. 20-31, 50-61, 63-34, 230-236, 268-269, 285-302). Family Services requested a jury trial and pled the following causes of action against all named defendants: (1) Declaratory Injunctive Relief; (2) Fraudulent Conveyance; (3) Quiet Title; (4) Conversion; (5) Unjust Enrichment; (6) Money had and Received; (7) Promissory Estoppel; and, (8) Quantum Meruit. (R. pp. 56-61, 237-250). Patricia filed an answer that denied Family Services’s material allegations aside from establishing parties, publicly recorded legal instruments, and identifying amounts in dispute between the parties and Mother’s conservatorship. (R. pp. 50-61, 63-64). Family Services filed an amended complaint with minor changes but no substantive changes overall. (R. pp. 56-61, 72-78). Wells Fargo filed an answer to Family Services’s amended complaint. (R. pp. 81-91).

Family Services served Patricia requests for admissions, interrogatories, and production of documents. (R. pp. 116-71, 485-502, 513-532). Family Services deposed Patricia. (R. pp. 252-532). Certain key facts are not disputed and have been admitted. In a sister probate case (Case No. 2014-GC-10-0209), the Honorable Tamara C. Curry in Charleston County Probate Court appointed Family Services as conservator for Mother on March 27, 2015. (R. pp. 24-25, 50, 66). On or around November 1, 2012, Patricia received \$6,000.00 from Mother and her late father. (R. pp. 29, 31-33, 236). Pertaining to allegations of damages for a sum uncertain, Family Services never pled damages for this said stipulated amount of \$6,000.00 (on November 1,

2012). (R. pp. 29, 31-33, 35, 43-45, 50-61, 66-78, 373-382, 406, 477-478).

As recorded on August 7, 2013, the stipulated deed transfer pertains to the real property, and residence, of both Mother and Patricia that is located on 602 Atlantic Street, Mount Pleasant, Charleston, South Carolina (Book No. 0351, Page No. 348, TMS No. 532-06-00-129). Mother conveyed one-half (1/2) interest in said property to Patricia as joint tenants with rights of survivorship. This deed evidenced both Mother and Patricia as landowners of said property. Also, this deed correctly identifies the subject property in dispute for the above-captioned case with respect to Family Services's allegations of rent in arrears under different legal theories. (R. pp. 33-35, 43-45, 50-51, 66-67, 230-236, 276-282, 290, 305-306, 337-342, 373-382, 390, 399-402, 427, 503-506). On or around August 21, 2013, Patricia received \$1,500.00 from Mother. (R. pp. 26, 29, 31-33, 35, 43-45, 52, 68, 135-136, 144-145, 343-346, 373-382, 477-478).

On or around November 18, 2014, Patricia received \$6,000.00 from Mother. (R. pp. 28-29, 31-33, 35, 43-45, 69, 145, 156, 270-276, 359-362, 373-382, 517, 522-527). On or around December 23, 2014, Patricia received \$10,000.00 from Mother. (R. pp. 29, 31-33, 35, 43-45, 128, 146-147, 157, 373-382, 384-385, 389, 522-527). Patricia concedes that challenging the said stipulated amounts of \$6,000.00 (on November 18, 2014) and \$10,000.00 (on December 23, 2014) is not preserved upon appeal. Thus, the award for these two stipulated amounts and interest thereupon to Family Services, as conservator for Mother, remain undisturbed upon appeal.

Family Services and Wells Fargo entered into a consent order striking Wells Fargo from the case. (R. pp. 2-3). On August 30, 2019, the Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr., heard Family Services's motion to enforce the settlement agreement and to disqualify Patricia's counsel. (R. p. 11). On June 25, 2020, the Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough heard Family Services's motion to

enforce settlement rendering a decision to hold judgment until Patricia retained counsel and respond to said motion accordingly within fifteen (15) business days. (R. p. 14). Patricia filed a motion in opposition to Family Services's motion to enforce settlement. (R. pp. 214-221). The lower court ruled said settlement negotiations between the parties as invalid and non-binding. (R. pp. 6, 11, 173-204, 214-229). Family Services moved the lower court to transfer the case to Master in Equity, of which the lower court granted the motion. (R. pp. 6, 210-12).

Family Services filed a motion for summary judgment. (R. pp. 230-532). On May 11, 2021, the Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough heard Family Services's motion for summary judgment. Appellant experienced an issue with attending the hearing in a timely manner arriving shortly after the conclusion of said hearing while Family Services was still present in the courtroom and motion hearings were still being heard by the lower court. Judge Scarborough informed Patricia that the hearing on the motion for summary judgment had already been ruled and decided upon in her absence. (R. pp. 20-24, 533-534).

In a separate sister case (Case No. 2022-CP-08-00910), and on November 3, 2022, the Honorable Dale Van Slambrook in Berkley County entered an order withholding \$100,000.00 from Patricia in sale proceeds of another related real estate property due to the outcome of this appeal. (R. pp. 537-539).

This appeal followed.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Context matters. Accuracy matters. When the probate court determines an individual as legally incapacitated and establishes a conservatorship, the conservator does not have carte blanche to arbitrarily pursue all potential sources of income or assets prior to any determination of legal incapacity or to the detriment of another's rights to property. While Mother's demise with the progressive onset of dementia is an unfortunate hardship, Family Services relied upon the allegations made by Muriel against Patricia under the circumstances that were not properly assessed nor investigated before taking further legal action. (R. pp. 26-27, 29-30, 37, 54, 70, 236, 268-303). Muriel's role in Mother's legal incapacitation is questionable as to having unclean hands and exhibiting an underlying motive of instigating sisterly strife over Mother's money and real property. (R. pp. 54, 70, 232, 292-294, 329-330, 354-355).

Patricia's parents had four children, of which the two daughters Patricia and Muriel have been particularly litigious over Mother's finances and care. (R. pp. 24-25, 39-42, 54, 70, 230-236, 246-249). On March 27, 2013, Muriel was established as Mother's attorney in fact (Book No. 0319, Page No. 644) with Patricia being a successor attorney in fact. (R. pp. 27, 29, 52, 68, 233-234, 299-303). After Patricia's father (and Mother's husband) passed away on December 21, 2011, Mother requires assisted living as an elderly woman in her late eighties or early nineties. (R. pp. 25, 50, 66, 423). Mother granted Muriel full interest in real property on Goat Island (Book No. 0271, Page No. 285, TMS No. 571-14-00-007) to Muriel on August 15, 2012. (R. pp. 51, 67, 335). Initially, Mother was living with Muriel at the family home located on 911 South Shem Drive, Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29464 (Book No. 0380, Page No. 802, TMS No. 535-15-00-043) until the two experienced a falling out on or around March 31, 2014 ("911 South Shem Drive"). (R. pp. 52, 68, 329-330, 394-405). On December 27, 2013, Mother granted one-

third (1/3) of her interest to Muriel and one-third (1/3) of her interest to Patricia in 911 South Shem Drive (Book No. 0380, Page No. 802, TMS No. 535-15-00-043). (R. pp. 52, 68).

Subsequently thereafter on or around April 1, 2014, Mother moved in with Patricia at 602 Atlantic Street, Mount Pleasant, Charleston, South Carolina (Book No. 0351, Page No. 348, TMS No. 532-06-00-129) (“602 Atlantic Street”). (R. pp. 329-330, 405). Then, as the sole owner, Mother granted half of her full interest in 602 Atlantic Street to Patricia as joint tenants with rights of survivorship on August 7, 2013. (R. pp. 33-35, 43-45, 50-51, 66-67, 147, 156, 158-159, 230-236, 276-282, 290, 305-306, 337-342, 373-382, 390, 399-402, 427, 503-506).

On or around November 1, 2012, Patricia received a gift from Mother and her late father in the amount of \$6,000.00. (R. pp. 29, 31-33, 236). This stipulated sum of \$6,000.00 (on November 1, 2012) was never included in any of Family Services’s pleadings. (R. pp. 29, 31-33, 35, 43-45, 50-61, 66-78, 373-382, 406, 477-478). Hence, an award on this amount is outside the scope of the pleadings and void. On or around August 21, 2013, Patricia received a secondary gift from Mother in the amount of \$1,500.00. (R. pp. 26, 29, 31-33, 35, 43-45, 52, 68, 144-145, 343-346, 373-382, 477-478). Both gifts occurred prior to Mother being diagnosed and declared legally incapacitated (collectively referred to as “Gifts”).

On or around November 12, 2014, Dr. Jacob Mintzer of Alzheimer’s Research Center of Roper St. Francis Hospital found that Mother lacked the mental capacity to give informed consent to for a standard clinical assessment. (R. pp. 27, 37). On or around November 26, 2014, Dr. Michael Mikola of Roper St. Francis Hospital wrote a certified letter diagnosing Muriel Walsh Clarkin with Alzheimer’s dementia. (R. pp. 26-27, 30, 37). However, Mother was not actually declared mentally incapacitated until on or around December 22, 2014. (R. pp. 25, 29, 37, 231, 234, 268, 306-307). The lower court invalidated transactions or declared Mother under a

disability effective as of November 12, 2014. (R. pp. 22, 27, 37). Initially, Muriel was the temporary conservator on or around December 22, 2014. (R. pp. 26, 41-42, 236, 248-249, 303-314). Temporarily on January 7, 2015, and permanently on March 27, 2015, Family Services became the conservator for Mother. (R. pp. 24-25, 50, 66).

When Family Services filed its complaint against Patricia on October 20, 2017, Family Services's allegations of claims on these Gifts occurred well after the three-year statute of limitations tolled. The statute of limitations for these Gifts tolled under the three-year statute of limitations on November 1, 2015, and August 21, 2016, respectively. Family Services did not present any documentation in writing of Patricia assuming the debt after the statute of limitations was tolled. Family Services did not present any documentation in writing that Family Services made a demand for repayment of these Gifts. Thus, Family Services is not entitled to these Gifts in the amount of \$7,500.00 and said interest thereupon.

On or around November 18, 2014, Patricia received \$6,000.00 from Mother. (R. pp. 28-29, 31-33, 35, 43-45, 69, 145, 156, 270-246, 359-362, 373-382, 517, 522-527). Subsequently thereafter, and on or around December 23, 2014, Patricia received \$10,000.00 from Mother. (R. pp. 29, 31-33, 35, 43-45, 128, 146-147, 157, 373-382, 384-385, 389, 522-527). For these two stipulated sums, Patricia has previously stated that the award of these amounts and interest thereupon are not in dispute. (R. pp. 29-30, 43-45). As the appropriate objections were not preserved and then waived on appeal, challenges to these stipulated sums may not be heard on appeal. This appeal will not address the enforceability of upholding these two stipulated sums. Moreover, in the demands made for repayment by Family Services to Patricia, Family Services only sent requests to Patricia for these two stipulated sums concerning the \$6,000.00 (on November 18, 2014) and the \$10,000.00 (on December 23, 2014). (R. pp. 289-295). Family

Services does not provide any other documentation that Family Services made a demand to Patricia for other funds such as the Gifts or rent in arrears. Family Services does not establish having a right to said personal or real property for these monetary damages.

Since March 27, 2015, Family Services asserted a claim of rent in arrears in the amount of \$500.00 in rent per month for Patricia to reside with Mother at 602 Atlantic Street. (R. pp. 33-36, 241-242, 305-306, 382). Despite acknowledging Patricia as a landowner of 602 Atlantic Street, Family Services extorted a total of rent in arrears for \$38,500.00 encompassing 77 monthly rent payments of \$500.00 per month since January of 2015. (R. pp. 33-36). Interest thereupon said rent in arrears amounted to \$8,255.88. (R. pp. 33-36). Total rent in arrears with interest amounted to \$46,755.88. (R. pp. 33-36, 43-45, 50-51, 66-67, 147, 156, 158-159, 230-236, 276-282, 290, 305-306, 337-342, 373-382, 390, 399-402, 427, 503-506). A landowner residing on the real property in question, and in possession of the same, may not be charged for nonpayment of rent or rent in arrears. Because, the prerequisite landlord-tenant relationship is necessary to charge for rent in a residential home. Thus, charging an owner of real property rent to live on said real property is an obsequious, legal impossibility.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

#### **I. Motion for summary judgment. Rule 56(c), SCRCP.**

A motion for summary judgment should ripen after preliminary discovery in litigation begins and pleadings are closed because the motion typically involves a variety of pleadings, including the complaint, answer, and preliminary discovery; affidavits; depositions; and, admissible evidence. Rule 56, SCRCP; *see Hooper v. Ebenezer Senior Servs. & Rehab. Ctr.*, 386 S.C. 108, 114, 687 S.E.2d 29, 32 (2009). A motion for granting summary judgment under Rule 56(c) typically occurs “*after adequate time for discovery and upon motion, against a party who*

fails to make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial." *Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 322-24, 106 S. Ct. 2548, 2552-53 (1986) (emphasis added). The moving party bears the burden to show the court the basis for a motion for summary judgment by identifying portions of the pleadings, discovery, and affidavits to "demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of material fact." *Id.* at 323; *Baughman v. AT&T*, 306 S.C. 101, 115, 410 S.E.2d 537, 545 (1991). Therefore, a motion for "[s]ummary judgment is a drastic remedy and must not be granted until the opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery." *Dawkins v. Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 69-71, 580 S.E.2d 433, 438-39 (2003); see *George v. Fabri*, 345 S.C. 440, 452, 548 S.E.2d 868, 874 (2001) (citing *McClain v. Arnold*, 275 S.C. 282, 284, 270 S.E.2d 124, 125 (1980)).

In a Rule 56(c) motion for summary judgment, the court must determine "whether any triable issues of fact exist." *Bloom v. Ravoira*, 339 S.C. 417, 421-22, 529 S.E.2d 710, 712 (2000). Similar to the standard for a motion for directed verdict, the legal issue before the court is whether disposing of a case as a matter of law against a non-moving party would be reasonably possible based on the facts of the case. *Id.* at 422. A Rule 56(c) motion for summary judgment must fail when the evidence and reasonable inferences therefrom construed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party shows a genuine disputed issue exists regarding any material fact for each essential element in the claim that "might affect the outcome of the lawsuit under governing substantive law." *Hyman v. Ford Motor Co.*, 142 F. Supp. 2d 735, 737-38 (D.S.C. 2001); *Fay v. Total Quality Logistics, LLC*, 419 S.C. 622, 628, 799 S.E.2d 318, 322 (Ct. App. 2017). By contrast, even when no dispute of the evidentiary facts exists, a Rule 56 motion for summary judgment must fail when a dispute exists as to the legal conclusions "or inferences to

be drawn from [the evidentiary facts].” *Bloom*, 339 S.C. at 422.

### ARGUMENTS

When a plaintiff lacks subject matter jurisdiction, the defendant may raise lack of subject matter jurisdiction at any time before or after the case has been adjudicated. Rule 12(a)-(b), SCRPC. Rule 12(b)(1) pertains to dismissing a case or defending any cause of action in any pleading based upon a lack of subject matter jurisdiction over the case. Rule 12(b)(1), SCRPC. A court must have subject matter jurisdiction to enforce its own decrees. *Hallums v. Bowens*, 318 S.C. 1, 3, 428 S.E.2d 894, 895 (Ct. App. 1993). Subject matter jurisdiction refers to the power of the court to adjudicate cases with the proceedings in question belonging to a general class. *Dove v. Gold Kist*, 314 S.C. 235, 237-38, 442 S.E.2d 598, 599-600 (1994). By contrast, compared to a claim for improper venue, “[a] court lacking subject matter jurisdiction, however, has no authority to act regardless of the geographical location or consent of the litigants.” *Dove*, 314 S.C. at 238; *Triangle Auto Spring Co. v. Gromlovitz*, 270 S.C. 386, 389 n.1, 242 S.E.2d 430, 431 (1978) (opining that “consent has no bearing on the question of subject matter jurisdiction since such jurisdiction is not waivable”). Subject matter jurisdiction is “a court's constitutional or statutory power to adjudicate a case.” *Johnson v. S.C. Dep't of Prob.*, 372 S.C. 279, 284, 641 S.E.2d 895, 897 (2007). Subject matter jurisdiction confers “the power of a court to hear and determine cases of the general class to which the proceedings in question belong . . . .” *State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 100, 610 S.E.2d 494, 498 (2005). *State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). While subject matter jurisdiction may not be waived by the parties or consented to by the parties, the issue of subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time upon the following condition as to “if it appeared that the lower court did not possess subject matter jurisdiction.” *Johnson*, 372 S.C. at 284; *Gentry*, 363 S.C. at 100.

The term subject matter has a broad and various definition related to the right one party claims against another for the relief sought. *Atlanta Skin & Cancer Clinic, P.C. v. Hallmark Gen. Partners*, 320 S.C. 113, 121 n.10, 463 S.E.2d 600, 605 (1995) (citations omitted). First, if the defense for statute of limitations prevails, then so does the defense for lack of subject matter jurisdiction because a court's subject matter jurisdiction rests upon whether a plaintiff is entitled to sue on a cause of action. *See McLendon v. S.C. Dep't of Highways & Pub. Transp.*, 313 S.C. 525, 525-26, 443 S.E.2d 539, 540 (1994). The laws in effect at the moment a cause of action accrued is the controlling law over parties' legal relationships and rights. *Tilley v. Pacesetter Corp.*, 355 S.C. 361, 371, 585 S.E.2d 292, 297 (2003). A cause of action accrues at the moment when plaintiff is entitled to sue on it. *Id.* at 381. The effect of the statute of limitations is substantive in nature foreclosing a claim. Because, the statute of limitations (as codified and amended) operates like a time capsule as to whether a claim is barred. Whether a claim is barred is based upon the controlling law (for the statute of limitations) that surrounds a cause of action at the time the said cause of action accrued.

Second, a party must have justiciability to bring forth a claim and have standing to do so for a court to have subject matter jurisdiction. *Joseph v. S.C. Dep't of Labor, Licensing & Regulation*, 417 S.C. 436, 449, 790 S.E.2d 763, 769-70 (2016). As a question of law, the court may construe the statutes in question for determining a plaintiff's justiciability without deference to the lower court. *Ex parte State ex rel. Wilson*, 391 S.C. 565, 570, 707 S.E.2d 402, 405 (2011); *see also McMaster v. Columbia Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 395 S.C. 499, 504, 719 S.E.2d 660, 662 (2011) (discussing court's construction of legislative intent permissible for substantive due process). A party must have a personal stake in the lawsuit in which said claim, of which is the subject matter of the lawsuit, is ripe to be heard. *Joseph*, 417 S.C. at 449. The plaintiff must

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