RECEIVED

Mar 06 2024

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough, Master in Equity Charleston County

Case No. 2017-CP-10-5427
Appellate Case No. 2021-000793

Family Services, Inc., as Conservator for Muriel W. Clarkin.....Respondent,

v.

Patricia Clarkin Smith and Wells Fargo Bank, NA., Defendants,
Of whom Patricia Clarkin Smith is the Appellant.

RESPONDENT’S INITIAL BRIEF

March 6, 2024.

THE LAW OFFICE OF
DAVID CONOR KEYS, LLC
s/ D. Conor Keys
D. Conor Keys (100148)
P.O. Box 14225
Charleston, SC 29422
Phone: 843-906-3998
conor@dconorkeyslaw.com

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

"We consider the pleadings in this case in the light of the general rule, that the parties to an action are judicially concluded and bound by such unless withdrawn, altered or stricken by

amendment or otherwise. The allegations, statement or admissions contained in a pleading are conclusive as against the pleader. It follows that a party cannot subsequently take a position contradictory of, or inconsistent with, his pleadings and the facts which are admitted by the pleadings are to be taken as true against the pleader for the purpose of the action. Evidence contradicting such pleadings is inadmissible.” *Elrod v. All*, 243 S.C. 425, 436, 134 S.E.2d 410 (1964).

In this case Respondent in its summons and complaint filed October 20, 2017, stated:

“11. On or about August 21, 2013, Defendant obtained \$1,500.00 from Clarkin.
12. Defendant has acknowledged that she had an obligation to pay back Clarkin for the \$1,500.00.” (Comp.)

Appellant in her Answer filed November 28, 2017, admitted the allegations of Paragraphs 11 and 12 of the Complaint (Ans. ¶1). For the reasons stated herein above Respondent respectfully asserts this court should affirm the lower court’s ruling with regard to Appellant’s first stated issue upon appeal.

5) Respondent may brief any argument asking the court to affirm for any ground appearing in the record. *See* Rules 208(b)(2) and 220(c), SCACR. In this case with regard to the funds relevant to Appellant first stated issue on appeal, Respondent in its motion for summary judgment asserted that the lower court should award damages for said funds pursuant to respondent’s asserted causes of action for quantum meruit and conversion (Mtn SJ; Amended Comp.). The Master declined to rule on these causes of action in his Order, because he had already awarded said damages under additional causes of action asserted by Respondent (Ord).

Finally, Respondent asserts that though statute of limitations is not applicable, for the sake of argument, if the statute did apply, Appellant erred in calculating when the statute began to run, by failing to apply the discovery rule. “According to the discovery rule, the statute of limitations

begins to run when a cause of action reasonably ought to have been discovered. The statute runs from the date the injured party either knows or should have known by the exercise of reasonable diligence that a cause of action arises from the wrongful conduct.” *Bayle v. S.C. Dept. of Transp.*, 344 S.C. 115, 123, 542 S.E.2d 736 (Ct. App. 2001). Appellant asserts the statute began to accrue when Appellant obtained the funds from Clarkin, i.e. November of 2012 and August of 2013. However, a reasonable person would not have discovered Appellant’s breach of her obligation to make Clarkin whole, until after Clarkin was declared incompetent in November of 2014. The statute therefore had not run when Respondent filed the complaint. Moreover, even if there was error, there is no prejudice to Appellant, she received the funds and acknowledge her obligation to make Clarkin whole.

Respondent asserts additional sustaining grounds for which this Court could sustain the damages awarded by the Master in regard to the \$7,500 of awarded damages plus prejudgment interest awarded which Appellant raises issue with in Appellant’s first stated issue on appeal.⁴

III. The South Carolina Landlord Tenant Act Barr the Master from Awarding Damages to Respondent in the amount of \$38,500.00 plus prejudgment interest pursuant Respondent’s cause of action for Promissory Estoppel and/or Unjust Enrichment. Respondent presented evidence that Appellant promised to pay Clarkin monthly payments of \$500.00, and partial performed upon the obligation, in exchange for the benefits Appellant received with regard to the Subject Property. Additionally, Alternative Sustaining Grounds do not Warrant Reversal.

Statement of Relevant Facts

In or around the second half of 2012 Appellant separated and/or divorced her ex-husband and moved out of their marital home (Mtn SJ. Ex. A pg. 88). On July 30, 2013, a deed was recorded in the RMC office of Charleston County in Book 0351 at Page 348 (hereinafter “First Deed”) wherein Clarkin conveyed a half interest in real property she owned at 602 Atlantic St., Mt.

⁴ Respondent incorporates herein by reference hereto Respondent’s arguments with regard Conversion and Quantum Meruit as set forth in Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment filed on October 7, 2020 (Mtn SJ)

Pleasant, SC 29464 (hereinafter “Subject Property”) to Appellant as Joint Tenant with rights of survivorship (Mtn SJ. Ex. “D”). The First Deed on its face does not show that Appellant paid valuable consideration to Clarkin at the time of the transfer in exchange for a half interest in the Subject Property. Appellant stated the principle reason for the transfer occurring was to reduce the amount of the tax obligation which Clarkin was obligated to pay on the Property from 6% to 4% percent (Mtn. SJ pg. 3; Mtn SJ Ex. A pg. 88,89,100). On August 2, 2013, Appellant provided Clarkin a check for five hundred dollars which states on the memo line “Aug. Rent” (Mtn. SJ. Ex. E). Beginning on August 2, 2013, immediately following the execution of the First Deed by Clarkin and continuing until Clarkin was declared incapacitated and Appellant made monthly payments to Clarkin in exchange for the benefit Appellant received by Appellant residing in the Subject Property. On multiple occasions Appellant acknowledged that she had agreed, promised and was obligated to make these monthly payments to Clarkin (Mtn. SJ, Mtn. SJ Ex. A, B, E). On December 22, 2014, Kennedy, sister of Appellant filed a petition for a protective order and appointment of conservator making statements, including but not limited to “Daughter Patricia Clarkin Smith was supposed to pay Rent to Mrs. Clarkin in the amount of \$600.00 per month. Petitioner has not received the money and cannot find it being deposited in any account and Mrs. Clarkin does not know where the rental money goes.” (Probate Records, 12/22/14 Petition Prot.) Appellant knew in 2014 that Clarkin’s funds were being dissipated quickly (Mtn. SJ. Ex. A and B) Clarkin relied upon receiving monthly payment from Appellant to pay for and supplement her monthly expenses (Mtn. SJ. Ex. A and B; Probate Records, 12/22/14 Petition Prot.). Appellant ceased paying Clarkin monthly payments as previously agreed. Appellant did so contemporaneously with the Clarkin being declared incapacitated and Respondent being appointed conservator (Am. Compl).

Standard of Review

We review factual findings and legal conclusions in an equitable action de novo. However, this de novo review does not require an appellate court to disregard the findings of the trial court or to ignore the fact that the trial court is in the better position to assess the credibility of the witnesses. Moreover, the appellant is not relieved of the burden of convincing the appellate court that the trial court committed error in its findings. Consequently, we will affirm the findings of the trial court in an equity case unless the appellant satisfies this court that the preponderance of the evidence is against the findings of the trial court. *Regions Bank v. Wingard Properties, Inc.*, 394 S.C.241, 248-49, 715 S.E.2d 348 (Ct. App. 2011).

Argument

Appellant asserts the lower court erred granting Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment against Appellant for monetary damages in the amount of \$38,500.00 plus prejudgment interest pursuant Respondent's cause of action for Promissory Estoppel and/or Unjust Enrichment, because no landlord-tenant relationship existed and Respondent lacks standing under the South Carolina Residential Landlord-Tenant Act, it violates the statute of frauds (App. Brief Pg. 16, 20).

The trial court did not err in awarding Respondent \$38,500.00 plus prejudgment interest pursuant Respondent's cause of action for Promissory Estoppel and/or Unjust Enrichment for the following reasons: 1) Appellant, failed to preserve the alleged issue for review, prior to filing this appeal, by failing to raise said defense to the lower court in Appellant's pleading, or other filed document or memorandum, before the court during the motion hearing and failed to do so through filing a motion to reconsider; 2) Appellant waived the right to assert the defense of statute of frauds by failing to assert such a defense in Appellant's response pleading and/or before the lower court during the hearing; and 3) and the additional sustaining grounds of quantum meruit.

1) With regard to the first reason the court did not err regarding Appellant's second stated issue on appeal, Appellant failed to preserve the alleged error for review. "In order for an issue to be preserved for appellate review, it must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge. Issues not raised and ruled upon in the trial court will not be considered on appeal." *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691 (2003) "[A] great number of reported cases in South Carolina for at least four generations, and more recently the appellate court rules and rules of civil procedure, have emphasized the importance and absolute necessity of ensuring that all issues and arguments are presented to the lower court for its consideration. Issues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by the lower court... our rules contemplate two basic situations in which a party should consider filing a Rule 59(e) motion. A party may wish to file such a motion when she believes the court has misunderstood, failed to fully consider, or perhaps failed to rule on an argument or issue, and the party wishes for the court to reconsider or rule on it. A party must file such a motion when an issue or argument has been raised, but not ruled on, in order to preserve it for appellate review... South Carolina appellate courts do not recognize the "plain error rule," under which a court in certain circumstances is allowed to consider and rectify an error not raised below by the party... If a party is unsure whether he properly raised all issues and obtained a ruling, he must file a Rule 59(e) motion or an appellate court may later determine the issue or argument is not preserved for review." *Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp.*, 361S.C. 9, 23-25, 602 S.E.2d 772 (2004) (citations omitted).

In this case, Appellate failed to raise or assert the alleged issue of failure to comply with the South Carolina Landlord Tenant Act or the defense of statute of frauds, or any affirmative defense for that matter, in Appellant's Answer filed on November 28, 2017 (Ans). Additionally, Appellant did not file a memo in opposition to Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment

(Court Case Index). Further, Appellant did not make an oral argument in opposition to Respondent's Motion before the court during the hearing (Trans). Finally, Appellant did not file a motion to reconsider the ruling with the lower court prior to appealing the order (Court Case Index). The Master in his order never stated whether or no a landlord tenant relations existed between the parties nor did he ever reference the South Carolina Landlord Tenant Act. Under our court rules and case law Appellant failed to preserve for appeal the alleged issue(s) for appeal. Respondent respectfully asserts this court should affirm the lower court's ruling with regard to Appellant's second stated issue upon appeal.

2) With regard to the second reason the court did not err regarding Appellant's second stated issue on appeal, Appellant waived the affirmative defense of statute of frauds.⁵ Statute of Frauds may not be raised for the first time on appeal *Turbeville v. Gordon*, 233 S.C. 75, 103 S.E.2d 521 (1958). The assertion of the affirmative defense of statute of frauds is waived if it is not raised and set forth in a responsive pleading. *Parker v Shecut*, 340 S.C. 460, 489, 31 S.E.2d 546 (Ct. App. 2000). Here Appellant failed to raised the affirmative defense of statute of frauds. Respondent respectfully asserts this court should affirm the lower court's ruling with regard to Appellant's second stated issue upon appeal.

3) Respondent may brief any argument asking the court to affirm for any ground appearing in the record. *See* Rules 208(b)(2) and 220(c), SCACR. In this case with regard to Appellant's obligation to make monthly payments to Clarkin in the amount of \$500.00, relevant to Appellant's

⁵ Additionally, as an alternative sustaining ground there is evidence in the record of partial performance on the part of Appellant in making monthly payments to Clarkin in 2013 and 2014 as part of her promise to pay for the benefits received, such that specific performance should be compel. *See Settlemeyer v. McCluney*, 359 S.C. 317, 320, 596 S.E.2d 514 (2004) (" To compel specific performance of an oral agreement where part performance is alleged to remove the contract from the statute of frauds, a court of equity must find: 1) clear evidence of an oral agreement; 2) the agreement had been partially executed; and 3) the party who requested performance had completed or was willing to complete his part of the oral agreement.")

second stated issue on appeal, Respondent in its motion for summary judgment asserted that the lower court should award damages for said funds pursuant to respondent's asserted cause of action for quantum meruit (Mtn SJ; Amended Comp.). The Master declined to rule on these causes of action in his Order, because he had already awarded said damages under additional causes of action asserted by Respondent (Ord). Respondent now asserts these causes of action as additional sustaining grounds for which this Court could sustain the damages awarded by the Master in regard to the \$7,500 of awarded damages plus prejudgment interest awarded which Appellant raises issue with in Appellant's first stated issue on appeal.⁶

IV. With Regard to Appellant's Third Stated Issue on Appeal: "Whether the lower court erred by violating Appellant's constitutional rights of [sic] depriving Appellant of Appellant's property without due process of law." There can be no error pursuant to Rule 210, SCACR, because the alleged violation was not before the Master, was not ruled on by the Master, and expands beyond information presented to the lower court. The Issue was Waived by Appellant and Not Preserved for Appellate Review.

Statement of Relevant Facts

Appellant appears to vaguely assert, without any specific factual references, that prior to Appellant appealing the order of the Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough filed June 21, 2021, Respondent breached some unspecified duty to an unspecified person(s) while acting as a conservator for Clarkin. However, Appellant never presented this alleged issue to Judge Scarborough in filed pleading or open court, and Judge Scarborough never made a ruling in response to Appellant raising such alleged issue. (Case Index; Ord. 5/11/21 Trans.)

Standard of Review

"The Record shall not, however, include matter which was not presented to the lower court or tribunal... the appellate court will not consider any fact which does not appear in the Record on

⁶ Respondent incorporates herein by reference hereto Respondent's arguments with regard Quantum Meruit as set forth in Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment filed on October 7, 2020 (Mtn SJ)

Appeal.” Rule 210, SCACR. “An appellate court may not, of course, reverse for any reason appearing in the record. The losing party must first try to convince the lower court it is has [sic] ruled wrongly and then, if that effort fails, convince the appellate court that the lower court erred. This principle underlies the long-established preservation requirement that the losing party generally must both present his issues and arguments to the lower court and obtain a ruling before an appellate court will review those issues and arguments.” *I’on, LLC v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 421-22, 526 S.E.2d 716.

Argument

“Constitutional arguments are no exception to the preservation rules, and if not raised to the trial court, the issues are deemed waived on appeal.” *Herron*, at 465 (citing *Grant v. S.C. Coastal Council*, 319 S.C. 348, 461, S.E.2d 388 (1995) (holding that a due process claim raised for the first time on appeal was not preserved).

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